# **PEDAGOGICAL GUIDELINES**



Copyright © The FIGHTARs Partnership 2022 http://fight-ar.com/ Written by Jens Hofmann on behalf of the FIGHTARs-Partnership. Version 1 – October 2022.

The FIGHTARS partners are: SPSCH - Pardubice High School of Chemistry (CZ), Estonian Academy of Security Sciences (EE), Fire Fighters Training School (LT), University of Zilina (SK), SCP Academy – School of Certified Professionals (CY), and SBG Dresden – Saxon Training Company for chemical and environmental professions (DEU).



Co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union FIGHTAR is supported by the European Union's Erasmus+ Programme. The European Commission support for this project does not constitute an endorsement of the contents of this publication or the associated web site, which reflect the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.



This document may be used and distributed in its original and unabridged form for non-commercial purposes (CC BY-NC-ND). No other public reproduction of this document, or publication of extracts from it other than short, attributed quotations, is permitted unless permission is obtained from the authors and reference is made to the source document.

## Contents

1. Introduction	4
2. Hard and Software	5
<ol><li>Survey based training needs of firefighters to create to FIGHTARs app</li></ol>	9
4. Learning and teaching using AR and 360° videos	11
5. Technology enriched learning scenario provision	14
6. Learning labs for immersive training in firefighting	20
7. Recommendations	22
APPENDICES	23
APPENDIX 1: Formulation of learning objectives (Bloom)	24
APPENDIX 2: Evaluation	25
APPENDIX 3: Scenario planning template	29
APPENDIX 4: Technical requirements for scenario materials and the LMS	30
APPENDIX 5: Lessons learned from testing the FIGHTARs app	35
APPENDIX 6: How to set up the AR glasses to screen share	36
APPENDIX 7: FIGHTARs app voice control commands	38
APPENDIX 8: Limitations of AR use in firefighters training and ways to overcome them	40
APPENDIX 9: References	41

## 1. Introduction

The technological possibilities applicable in training have increased exponentially and are expected to do so in the future. However, it is unclear what technologies are already stable and easy to use for firefighters training.

Education personnel is always looking for efficient and effective education that meets the wishes of learners and society, psychological and pedagogical insights using the latest technological possibilities. The FIGHTARs project involved professional firefighters and programmers to answer questions like: How can Augmented Reality (AR) glasses be implemented in firefighters and incident commanders training? What training cases should be created? What kind of digital skills are needed to use AR-based learning materials?

The FIGHTARs project mission is:

# Train firefighters and incident commanders today to prepare them for tomorrow challenges by the tailor-made support of trainers and learners through educational innovations.

Education is geared towards a future in which teaching personnel and technology work together to provide learners the knowledge and skills necessary for carrying out professional tasks. A today's life without technology is unthinkable. Technology by itself influences how we live, work, and learn. Trainers play an essential role for a meaningful application of relevant technology which results in better learning results and higher motivated learners. These guidelines are for firefighter trainer to know about and to implement modern, digital media in training. In addition, they are also aimed for school administration to realize the support of trainers' needs.

The use of modern media like Augmented Reality (AR)and 360° in firefighter's training is new ground. The fields of application are manifold. In FIGHTARs we focussed on the following topics:

- Rescue works (e. g. technical aspects of traffic accidents with electrical car)
- Handling hazardous substance exposure
- First aid in traffic accidents

## 2. Hard and Software

**Augmented Reality** is the enrichment of the visible reality with computer generated, interactive holograms for purposes like guidance and explanation of non-visible processes. To see holograms, specialised technology, like smart glasses (AR glasses), smartphones or tablets are necessary. The use of smart glasses allows that both hands are free during live training, when interacting with the glasses

**360° video** enables users to "dive into" a digital generated environment. It is used for the documentation of real environments and for the orientation of users in space. It represents a "simpler" form of Virtual Reality (therefore VR). Interactivity is created by the integration of buttons for accessing further information, such as videos, 3D objects, weblinks etc.



Figure 1. AR (left, marketing video) and VR (right, booth use) cases for existing applications

The development of smart glasses hard- and software is dynamic. The technology itself is not a new one. Current limitations are the price tag of the devices, partly the stability as well as resources spend to create tailor-made content. In recent years, the glasses got more accessible due to advances in computing and in storage media. The bottleneck is the availability of suitable and professional content for specific working and learning environments such as for firefighting training.

Decisive factors for buying smart glasses are:

- Field of view
- Control options
- Refresh rate (for visualisation stability and latency)
- Weight
- Battery duration
- Operating System
- Price
- Perceived easiness to create and use own or tailor-made training content

During the FIGHTARs project we tested the Microsoft HoloLens 2 (AR glass) in classroom and livetraining to overcome these limitation (see Appendix 8).

Table 1 provided an overview of currently available Augmented Reality and Virtual Reality glasses as well as 360° cameras.

### Table 1: AR and VR headsets & 360° cameras (selection)



Note: Selected Augmented Reality (AR) and Virtual Reality (VR) glasses are presented as they enable to see 360° videos what a 360° camera record.

The application of Augmented Reality (preferably AR glasses, but also applicable to smartphones and tablets) is suitable for:



Figure 2. Augmented Reality options

**AR - Remote support (Remote Training)**: The audio-visual guidance of the expert to the learner, who wears the AR glasses (e. g. Microsoft HoloLens 2). The expert, a trainer or an experienced professional can say open a valve and annotate the valve with a digital generated hologram in the shape of an arrow. The required hard- software involves:



Figure 3. Augmented Reality Remote Support hard- and software

**AR - Digital Twin:** Interactive digital twins ("digital 3D copies") of objects enable firefighters to virtually interact with a e. g. am electrical car visualisation. The relevant hard- and software needed is AR glasses and app to insert the model (see figure 4):



Figure 4. Augmented Reality Digital Twin technology needs

These guidelines will use terms like:

Lesson plan – A detailed description of the course of instruction for a lesson.

Scenario – It describes what learners should do with support of the trainer, the technologies available and the possible learning forms.

LMS – Abbreviation for Learning Management System. A LMS enables to provision of learning content as e-learning modules within a webpage.

# 3. Survey based training needs of firefighters to create to FIGHTARs app

To assess existing and future training demands an online survey was carried among firefighter stations and firefighters training organisation in the Czech Republic, in Estonia, in Lithuania and in the Slovak Republic in April 2021. Almost half of the 63 respondents have already experience with Virtual Reality, but only around 10% worked before with Augmented Reality glasses or applications (see figure 6).



Figure 5. Experience with Augmented Reality (AR) and Virtual Reality (VR) in training

The dominating topic is the provision of technical and procedural skills by the means of interacting with a digital object or a digitally enriched real object. Augmented Reality is seen as suitable for the fields of extinguishing burning cars, such as electrical or hybrid cars, and cutting a crashed car open to rescue a person. Also, the training of procedures, when dealing with different hazardous substances is seen useful. In contrast, Virtual Reality and 360° video is seen useful in training when simulating very dangerous situations, and training teamwork and tactical skills (see figure 7).



Figure 6. Preferred learning scenarios with Augmented Reality (AR) and Virtual Reality (VR)

The interest among learners and professional firefighters showed, that 80% are interested in AR and VR applied in different kind of training formats. 360° video use found by 75% suitable.

The largest approval obtained a mixture of on- and offline measures with almost 80% followed by practical workshops with around 60%. Pure online sessions are seen only by around 50% useful (see figure 8).



Figure 7. Preferred way of training provision

FIGHTARs focusses on the pedagogically sound application of Augmented Reality, 360° video and learning video application in firefighters training. They The survey results correspond with relevant and applicable learning theories.

## 4. Learning and teaching using AR and 360° videos

The use of modern media into firefighters training must be integrative and complementary in the first place to be applicable. Pedagogical questions of modern media use are key. The FIGHTARs project asks:

# How can we ensure a pedagogical added value of the teaching and learning scenarios when applying AR and 360° video in firefighters training?

Existing learning theories provide frameworks and models to develop suitable approaches for technology enriched theoretical and practical training.

Firefighters' training is currently a mix online, classroom and live-training. [1] In the classroom the provision of theoretical knowledge (regulations, chemistry etc.) is key. During live training the handling of equipment, experience with heat, time pressure etc. is key to gain the necessary knowledge and skills. Classroom and live training have already proven methods for development, carrying out and assessment. [1]. A live training can be resource-intensive (training personnel, specialized facilities, equipment, and well-planned scenarios) and hazardous for trainees (real temperatures, risk to fall) and environment (smoke, chemical wastes etc).

The use of AR and 360° will not replace classroom or live or their evaluation [2], but it has the potential to enrich both forms technically and pedagogically.

To successfully implement a new technology within practical training a four-step approach is recommended.

# Step 1: Decision on sound combination of work knowledge, appropriate learning approaches technology and content?

A trainer and trainee need integrated knowledge of following areas:

• Working Knowledge– What practical competences are necessary to master a task and how AR and 360° video support learning?

• Content Knowledge - What lesson content does he or she want to offer with AR and 360° video?

• Andragogy Knowledge or Adult learning approaches – What are appropriate ways to support and facilitate teaching and learning when using AR and 360° video?

• Technology Knowledge- How should AR and 360° video used to achieve the learning goals?



Figure 8. TAWOCK model elements [13]

**"TAWOCK"** is a conceptional model for the relationships between work areas, content delivered, technology needs and learning approaches adapted. It provides a framework for planning and execution of classroom training and live training. It results in a technology-enriched and pedagogical effective provision of learning contents.

#### STEP 2: Decision on what are the learning objectives?

The integration of AR and 360° video in a specific lesson demands a careful description of the desired outcomes. They can reach from the provision of e. g. technical knowledge to the enrichment of communication and collaboration as a teaching method. The focus in practical training is for<sup>1</sup>:

- a) AR rather on activities such as "clarify", "carry out", "integrate" or "judge".
- b) 360° video rather on activities such as "recognize", "recall", "summarize" or "classify".

After the definition of the expected impact (augmentation), the integration of the relevant knowledge (TAWOCK) and the clarification of the learning objectives the enrichment of the relevant learning environment with the supporting scenarios can be carried out.

By the completion of the classroom and/or live training the impact on emergency preparedness must be evaluated.

#### STEP 3: Evaluation of a training program

To evaluate learning sequences a four-step approach (see below and Appendix 3) can be applied. The single stages are independent from a learning perspective, e. g. positive feedback does not necessarily translate to effective learning, which in turn does not always lead to improved practice in the work setting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See appendix 1 – clarification of learning objectives according to Blooms taxonomy.



Figure 9. Kirkpatrick training model

There are different ways to evaluate different levels of training:

Level 1 - Collection of subjective information by end of session questionnaires

Level 2 – Observations by trainers on gained proficiency level, time to complete a task, number of errors, number of questions asked by the learners, skills test etc

Level 3 – Formal or informal assessment with measures built in for quality and comparability (e.g. examination situation after course in new situation)

Level 4 – Work based formal assessment of competence or practice, carried out in the workplace, or using evidence from work activity. An alternative is the written or verbal feedback from learners' supervisors.

## 5. Technology enriched learning scenario provision

The application of AR, 360° video and e-learning modules videos **enrich** and not replace learning in the classroom, or live trainings. AR, 360° video and e-learning modules are designed to increase the firefighter's preparedness for live trainings by the provision of professional knowledge e.g. on how to handle the equipment.

The use of AR and 360° is favourable during classroom trainings. Learning videos can prepare or accompany classroom training. The application of e. g. AR (remote training) during live trainings must be tested. The application of AR on the way to an incident scene is thinkable scenario.

The application of AR and 360° can be tied to a single scenario or it can be used more versatile. The integration of an interactive visualisation (digital twin) of a crashed car is specific, in contrast to the use of AR Remote support (see page 7) for audio-visual support when dealing with a real car body in training.

For a pedagogical sound use in training specific **learning scenarios** are needed. Scenario-based learning involves real-world scenarios to create an immersive and relatable learning experience for learners. Learners are assigned to specific roles and face different problem situations. Herewith they obtain the demanded set of knowledge, skills, and competences. This way of training specifies roles, activities, resources, and relevant tools.

# STEP 1: What educational challenge or problem AR and 360° video should solve in the four firefighter training institutions?

Provision of technical skills over distance (different hazards and car types) Better collaboration

Prep training (H&S)

Knowledge provision Train dangerous situation upfront (elect. car) Database access on the way to accident

#### **STEP 2: Fields of application**



The selection of applications was carried out by internal and by external experts (survey). AR is seen suitable for the deactivation of the battery pack e.g. for extinguishing burning cars (especially electrical car), cutting a crashed car open to rescue (injured) passengers. In addition, the handling of hazardous substances is a must. During training different communication and collaboration scenarios (single person, in group) will emerge to train especially teamwork skills.

#### STEP 3: Scenario development (combining STEPS 1+2)

The technology choices are intended to **enrich or augment** classroom and potentially live trainings. It is important to define for what working steps on which scenario and which way of provision (**TAWOCK<sup>2</sup> model**) AR and 360° video is used. AR should focus preferably on activities like to carry out or judge something, in contrast to 360° videos where the recognition, recalling and summarizing of knowledge is key.

To develop any learning scenario first learning outcomes for learners' need to be phrased (see chapter 4).

Below are three TAWOCK-oriented lesson plans:

- a) Deactivation battery pack of an electrical car (classroom training)
- b) Dealing with hazardous substances (classroom training)
- c) First aid in case of a traffic accident (classroom / live training)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See page 12.

SCENARIO	DEACTIVATION BATTERY ELECTRICAL CAR (AR D	DIGITAL TWIN)	[CLASSROOM TRAINING]	
LEARNING CONTENT PHASE	WORKING STEPS (LEARNING ACTIVITIES)	TECHNOLO GY	COMMUNICATION & COLLABORATION	TEACHER ACTIVITIES
Analysis/Orientation (xx min) ("Clarify")	* Arrival to (virtual) incident scene * Analysis car type	*AR visualisation e-car *AR digital twin in set environment *AR digital twin with views battery package location etc.	*Learner-teacher (1:1), brigade leader (teacher) briefs on scene with latest information * Teacher follows over screen	* Verbal presentation scenario * Introduction AR glasses
Execution (xx min) ("Carry out")	* Selection parts and deactivation battery	*AR digital twin * AR digital twin with visible and audio signs of fire, high voltage, )	*Learner-teacher (1:1), teacher verbal support	*Verbal guidance, if needed
Assessment (xx min) ("Judge")	*Deactivation battery(time)	*Integrated quiz to follow measures	*1:1 evaluation performance in dialogue	* Carrying out dicussion/dialog

SCENARIO	HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES (AR Digital twin)		[CLASSROOM TRAINING]	
LEARNING CONTENT PHASE	WORKING STEPS (LEARNING ACTIVITIES)	TECHNOLOGY	COMMUNICATION & COLLABORATION	TEACHER ACTIVITIES
Analysis/Orientation (xx min) ("Clarify")	* Arrival to (virtual) incident scene * Analysis if persons in danger * Analysis environment pollution * Determination hazardous substance(s)	*AR digital twin of incident scene	*Learner-teacher (brigade leader) (1:1) by screensharing	* Verbal presentation scenario * Introduction AR glasses * Audio-visual in <i>s</i> truction + support
Execution (xx min) ("Carry out")	Tell planned actions (chemical specific): * Tell hazardous substance and resulting measures like: * Collection of oil-water-mixture by various equipment * Temporary storage of mixture in tanks, re- serviors * Water treatment (case: major accident, low concentration of oil-water-mixture) * Disposal of pollutants (by specialists)	*AR digital twin of incident scene	*Learner-teacher (brigade leader) (1:1) by screensharing	* Self guided with visual support by trainer (sees actions: external screen)
Assessment (xx min) ("Judge")	*Actions suggested	*Discussion with trainer during observation and planning actions according to chemical	*1:1 performance evaluation	* Carrying out dicussion/dialog

SCENARIO	First aid (AR avatars of injured persons)		[CLASSROOM/LIVE-TRAINING TRAINING]	
LEARNING CONTENT PHASE	WORKING STEPS (LEARNING ACTIVITIES)	TECHNOLO GY	COMMUNICATION & COLLABORATION	TEACHER ACTIVITIES
	* Arrival to incident scene	*QR Code triggered AR digital twin person with		* Verbal presentation scenario *
	Arrival to incident scene	different injuries with access to an Learning	*Individual learning with possibiliy to screenshare	
Analysis/Orientation (xx min)		Management System for consulation and	view	use
("darify")		carry out exams	VICW .	ase
(, )				
	·			
	* Detect injuries: Catastrophic bleeding (yes/no)	*QR Code triggered AR digital twin person with	*Individual learning with possibiliy to screenshare	* Self guided with visual support by
Execution (xx min)		different injuries with access to an Learning	view	trainer (sees actions: external screen)
("Carry out")	* Plan further possible measures: checking	Management System for consulation and		
	breathing and possible spinal injuries	carry out exams		
	1	1	1	
Assessment (xx min)	*Actions suggest ed	*Discussion with trainer	* Performance evaluation	* Carrying out dicussion/dialog
("Judge")				

The FIGHTARs App is connected to the learning management system (LMS) of the project webpage (<u>http://fight-ar.com/</u>). This enables the update of contents in the LMS.



Figure 10. FIGHTARs app cases and LMS integration

## 6. Learning labs for immersive training in firefighting

A "Learning Lab" is a means aimed at inspiring and guiding teachers, trainers, and firefighters' students to implement ICT-rich education at their own school or training institute.

A "Learning Lab" is not only a physical place where firefighter teachers and trainers gain knowledge and experience about technological needs and support but also a space to test ready-made materials like the FIGHTARs AR app and LMS.

a) Learning labs: Development plan

The plan should incorporate

- a vision ("How education can influence to world of tomorrow?"),
- a *strategy* ("How we will achieve it"?) and
- a *mission* ("What are our core values?", "How do we want to deal with learners and employees?")

Within the FIGHTARs project we define the strategy as to set up learning labs. This involves the following steps:

- **Understand** (What is known? What does fit in the mission and vision of planned learning labs? For whom, why, what, and how the learning labs are developed? (incl. educational questions)
- **Explore** (What scenarios and training settings are suitable? Which digital prototypes should be built and tested?)
- **Materialize** (What the user liked? What did they not like? What should be altered? How to bring the final product to more users?)
- b) Decision making

Key is to make explicit choices on the professionalisation of teachers/trainers ICT skills by the school board. Options are:

- information meetings,
- short courses and trainings,
- coaching and peer review,
- participation in a network and
- external trainings.
- c) Professionalisation of teachers/trainers (see figure 11)



Figure 11. Flow chart professionalisation of teaching personnel in 3 steps

d) Content development for trainings

The enrichment of existing trainings with modern digital media is aimed, instead of creating new qualification offers in the first place. Key is the description of the specific educational problem or challenge where the new technology or technologies can help with.

For training purposes, for the handling with a crashed car (no electrical car) learning videos (preferably classroom training) as well as Augmented Reality Remote Support (live trainings) are applicable separately or in combination. Both options do not require any software programming capabilities from the trainer in the content creation phase.

The software programming of an interactive digital twin would only make sense for training dangerous or expensive scenarios, like the deactivation of the battery pack of a burning electrical car. This requires from the trainer to contact a software programmer or use existing visualisations.



Figure 12. Visualisation "staircase" (media creation)

### 7. Recommendations

The FIGHTARs project brings Augmented Reality and 360° video to firefighters training in order to support spatial learning and increase situational awareness by the provision of especially technical knowledge. AR and 360° video do not replace but enrich existing classroom and live trainings by focussing on the pedagogical added value (pedagogy > technology). They are expected to be strongly complementary to existing experiences with Virtual Reality in firefighters training.

The preferred scenarios (deactivation of electrical car battery, cutting a car open after a crash, first aid and handling hazardous substances) are possible to implement. For a pedagogical soundapplication the TAWOCK (Technology-Adult Learning–Work & Content Knowledge) model is suitable. The seamless implementation will enrich the currently rather general published experiences about AR and 360° video use in firefighters training with real use cases. The potential is there to also test the feasibility of e. g. AR remote training during selected live trainings.

A structured way of facilitation for integrating AR and 360° in theoretical and live training is needed. The learnings among the four planned centres of immersive firefighters training shall be shared over different means of communication to identify best practices, which are transferable and therefore scalable. This ensures a further use of AR and 360° in firefighters training.

# APPENDICES

# APPENDIX 1: Formulation of learning objectives (Bloom)



# **APPENDIX 2: Evaluation**

LEARNER FEEDBACK (CLASSROOM TRAINING AND LIVE TRAINING) on tool test and learning methods applied

Scaled questions (suggest 5-point scale).

Question	Yes/Very m A lot	uch/	Ne	No/ ot at all
	A IOL			latan
Did you find the session/course well organised and				
structured?				
Did you find the process straightforward to follow?				
Do you feel that your understanding of the topic has				
increased?				
How satisfied are you with your performance of the tasks?				
How confident are you that you can use what you have				
learned at work/in an independent project?				
Did you find it easy to recover from mistakes or				
misunderstandings?				
Did you find it easy to get answers to any questions you had?				
Was the technology (AR, 360° video) comfortable to use?				
Was it easy to find your way around the technology?				
Was it easy to move from one step to the next using the				
technology?				
Did you feel that the technology helped you learn?				

#### OBSERVATION (CLASSROOM TRAINING AND LIVE TRAINING)

This template is for multiple learners for one major activity or task.

Activity													
Observer													
	Qs	Help	Ste	p 1	Ste	p 2	Ste	р 3	Ste	р4	То	tal	Level
Name			Time	Err									

Note on columns:

- Questions these are questions seeking to clarify process, get feedback etc. Ignore 'interest' questions e. g. asking for more advanced knowledge.
- Help where the learner is stuck and needs the trainer's help to move on.
- Time to complete the step.
- Errors number of obvious errors at end of step.
- (If there are no clear breaks in the process, ignore the intermediate steps).
- Level decide on a scale e.g. 1-5 each with clear criteria (e.g. novice-to-expert definitions, see end of document).

#### Comments:

Add your comments e. g. about learners' engagement and 'flow', and for technology-mediated groups their ease of use of the technology.

#### ASSESSMENT (CLASSROOM TRAINING AND LIVE TRAINING)

This is a rough outline as there may be other requirements e.g. if it is contributing to certification.

Learner:

Assessor:

Date of assessment (and how long after training):

Description of task or activity:

EQF/national level if relevant:

Success criteria (these will normally be, or be an expansion of, the learning objectives):

Criterion	Achieved	Comments

For the task overall, what level of proficiency did the learner reach? (Use a scale with clear description – see the example at the end).

LIVE TRAINING OBSERVATION.

Provide a clear description of the task, and a <u>short</u> set of success criteria. These could be the same as the assessment criteria, or they may be 'scaled up' for proficiency in the workplace.

#### Questions for supervisor:

Are there any criteria that the learner has difficulty meeting?

How well does the learner perform the task/activity <u>as a whole</u>? (Suggest using a 5-point scale such as novice to expert, with a short description of each level – see end of document).

How confident is the learner in doing this task unsupervised? (scale)

How confident are you that the learner can do this task unsupervised? (scale)

Any additional comments? Is there anything else that we could have done in the training to improve the learner's level of proficiency?

# APPENDIX 3: Scenario planning template

SCENARIO

(CLASSROOM OR LIVE TRAINING)

LEARNING CONTENT PHASE	WORKING STEPS (LEARNING ACTIVITIES)	TECHNOLOGY	COMMUNICATION & COLLABORATION	TEACHER ACTIVITIES
Analysis/Orientation (xx min)				

Execution (xx min)		

Assessment (xx min)		

# APPENDIX 4: Technical requirements for scenario materials and the LMS

#### Photos, graphics, pictures

#### Format

- JPEG JPEG is the best option for photographs and other images displaying a wide variety of colors.
- PNG PNGs for graphics, drawings, text, and some screenshots.

Size I would suggest the below:

- 1200 pixels wide: 394kb
- 1000 pixels wide: 298kb
- 800 pixels wide: 219kb
- 600 pixels wide: 154kb

#### Grouping

Try different variations of grouping the photos.

S Edit Course "FightARs" « F	ght A® × S Edit Course "Hazardous substanc × S Edit Lesson "1.2 Traffic accident c × +			× –	o ×
← → C ▲ Not se	cure   http:// <b>fight-ar.com</b> /wp-admin/post.php?action=edit&post=11757		ť	r 🔲 🍮 Inco	gnito :
🔣 czeck 📙 Projects 📙	Language CZ 📃 Language EN 📕 Tech			🛛 🛄 Othe	er bookmarks
🔞 🏠 Fight AR 📀 12	🛡 76 🕂 New ViewLesson 🛱 Memberships 💥 English 🛛 🚸			Howdy, a	idmin 📃 📍
🚳 Dashboard	c 🗖 🕂 💭		11 o	Preview	pdate
G Eduma  G Eduma  IcarnPress			OFF Use WPM	IL's Translation Edite	or
	+			Translate Dupl	licate
Courses Lessons			Czech	+	0
Quizzes	× = + · · · · ·	×	Estonian	+	0
Questions	I am text block. Click edit button to change this text. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit. Ut elit tellus, luctus nec ullamcorper mattis, pulvinar		German	+	0
Orders	rain text backs care care button to change this text, coren pasin color at anne, consected a adjusting care or an terror, betta nee diamicorper mattix, paraman dapibus leo.		Lithuanian	+	0
Statistics	+				- 11
Add-ons Settings Tools	Add Element		Media attachments		
🛗 Events Manager			Duplicate featur	red image to transla	itions
🖈 Posts	Lesson Settings				
<b>91</b> Media			Publish	~ ~	•
📕 Pages	Duration 25 Minute(s) ~			Preview Chan	ges
🗭 Comments 🔞	Preview Students can view this lesson content without taking the course.		9 Status: Publishe	d Edit	
🌡 Our Team			Wisibility: Public	Edit	
🗭 Testimonials	Media		Revisions: 12 Br	owse	
i Portfolio	Add an embed link like video, PDF, slider		Dublished on: A	pr 6, 2022 at 15:27	Edit
Contact	earch O 🗄 🛜 🧮 🐖 🧏 🕅 🚓 💿 💷 🚺 Humid	^ ñ	📹 🗉 də) 📥	-1 ENG 5:21	PM

Go and choose the element that suits you the most:

Each element gives different possibilities to group/ present photos or galleries.

Please pay attention to:

- Consider the end goal what / how learner needs to evaluate information?
- How would it look with Hololens2? And how easy would it be to go from one photo to another?
- Would it be visible on a small screen, e.g. table, mobile phone?

czeck 🔜 Projects	📙 Lang	juage CZ 📙 Language El	N 🛄	Tech										<mark> </mark> o	ther book
📸 Fight AR 🗿 1	2 🛡	76 🕂 New View Less	ion 🕷	🕽 Memberships 🛛 🗮 En	glish 🕐	٠								Howdy	y, admin
Dashboard	Add I	Element								٩	, ßearch	element by name	Pre	eview	Update
Eduma 🚺 LearnPress	All	Content Social	Structu	re WordPress Widge	ıts T	him Shortcodes Woo	Comme	erce Deprecated					Trans	slation Ed	ditor
rses		Content Boata	buuctu	ie instantes mage				orection of the second s					^ Tran	nslate Du	uplicate
ons zes	7	Contact Form 7 Place Contact Form7	+	Row Place content elements inside the row	Т	Text Block A block of text with WYSIWYG editor	+	Section Group multiple rows in section	:¢:	Icon Eye catching icons from libraries	_	Separator Horizontal separator line	E	++	
stions ers stics		ZigZag Separator Horizontal zigzag separator line	- <b>T</b> -	Separator with Text Horizontal separator line with heading	1	Message Box Notification box		Hover Box Animated flip box with image and text	f	Facebook Like Facebook "Like" button		Tweetmeme Button Tweet button	F	++	
ons ngs	P	Pinterest Pinterest button	•=	FAQ Toggle element for Q&A block		Single Image Simple image with CSS animation		Image Gallery Responsive image gallery		Image Carousel Animated carousel with images		Tabs Tabbed content	Γ		
vents Manager		Tour Vertical tabbed content		Accordion Collapsible content panels		Pageable Container Pageable content container	a	Custom Heading Text with Google fonts	co	Button Eye catching button	=	Call to Action Catch visitors attention with CTA block		dia to je to tran:	slations
Posts Media		Widgetised Sidebar WordPress widgetised sidebar		Posts Slider Slider with WP Posts	0	Video Player Embed YouTube/Vimeo player		Google Maps Map block	-	Raw HTML Output raw HTML code on your page	-	Raw JS Output raw JavaScript code on your page		^	~ *
ages comments 🔞	••	Flickr Widget Image feed from Flickr account		Progress Bar Animated progress bar		Pie Chart Animated pie chart	0	Round Chart Pie and Doughnut charts	۱.	Line Chart Line and Bar charts		Empty Space Blank space with custom height	Pre	eview Ch	anges
Dur Team estimonials	888	Post Grid Posts, pages or custom posts in grid	888	Media Grid Media grid from Media Library	880	Post Masonry Grid Posts, pages or custom posts in masonry grid	880	Masonry Media Grid Masonry media grid from Media Library	6	Slider Revolution 6	09	Thim: Button Add Button	1		
ortfolio		Thim. According	-	Thim: Carousel	_		~	Thim: Countdown	~	Thing Counters Roy	-	Thim: Callent Internet	* 202	22 at 15:2	27 Edit

Extra not usual grouping or presenting photos are these (in orange):

$\rightarrow \mathbf{C}$ A Not		http://fight-ar.com/w											\$	🛛	Incognito
🔚 czeck 📕 Projects 📕 Language CZ 📕 Language EN 📕 Tech											Other bool				
🔒 Fight AR 🖸 12	2 📮 76	+ New View Les	son 🎁	🖡 Memberships 🛛 🗮 Enq	glish 🕑									How	dy, admin
	Add Ele	ement								<u>(</u>	<b>λ</b> fearch	element by name	×	Preview	Update
Eduma 🚺	All	Content Social	Structu	re WordPress Widge		him Shortcodes Woo	oComm	erce Deprecated						Translation	Editor
ourses													*	Translate	Duplicate
ssons		ontact Form 7 ace Contact Form7	+	Row Place content elements inside the row	Т	Text Block A block of text with WYSIWYG editor	+	Section Group multiple rows in section	:¢:	Icon Eye catching icons from libraries	_	Separator Horizontal separator line		++	
uestions ders		gZag Separator prizontal zigzag separator e	-T-	Separator with Text Horizontal separator line with heading	1	Message Box Notification box		Hover Box Animated flip box with image and text	f	Facebook Like		Tweetmeme Button Tweet button	1	++	
ntistics Id-ons ttings		nterest nterest button	•=	FAQ Toggle element for Q&A block		Single Image Simple image with CSS animation		Image Gallery Responsive image gallery		Image Carousel Animated carousel with images	-	Tabs Tabbed content	1		
ols Events Manager		our rtical tabbed content		Accordion Collapsible content panels		Pageable Container Pageable content container	a	Custom Heading Text with Google fonts	co	Button Eye catching button	=	Call to Action Catch visitors attention with CTA block		media to mage to tra	anslations
Posts   Media	T W	<b>/idgetised Sidebar</b> ordPress widgetised Jebar		Posts Slider Slider with WP Posts	0	Video Player Embed YouTube/Vimeo player		Google Maps Map block		Raw HTML Output raw HTML code on your page	-	Raw JS Output raw JavaScript code on your page		^	~ *
Pages Comments 776	•• Im	ickr Widget age feed from Flickr count	-	Progress Bar Animated progress bar		Pie Chart Animated pie chart	0	Round Chart Pie and Doughnut charts	۱.	Line Chart Line and Bar charts		Empty Space Blank space with custom height		Preview (	hanges
Our Team Testimonials	BBB Po	ost Grid sts, pages or custom ists in grid		Media Grid Media grid from Media Library		Post Masonry Grid Posts, pages or custom posts in masonry grid	880	Masonry Media Grid Masonry media grid from Media Library	6	Slider Revolution 6	O	Thim: Button Add Button			
Portfolio	71	tine According	Add	Thim: Carousel an embed link like video	, PDF, s	lider	~	Thim: Countdown	~	Thins Countras Dou	~~	Thim: Callen Imanes	•	, 2022 at 1	i:27 <u>Edit</u>

#### Hover Box

• Attention: Learner may not know that he/she needs to hover over the photo to reveal text

#### Caption

- All photos / galleries should have caption under + centred in the middle
- Compose caption including **Title + (source: xxx)**, e.g.:
  - Engine nr2 (source: EASS)
  - Engine nr2 (source: www.title.com)

- If you have more than 2 photos in the section you need to include numbering:
   Figure 1. Engine nr2 (source: EASS)
- Choose font "Paragraph"

#### Videos

Videos can be uploaded directly to Youtube, so the best quality you can achieve is suggested, and the user can control the quality that is best for his connection

#### Caption

- All videos should have caption under + centred in the middle
- Compose caption including Title + (source: xxx), e.g.:
  - Accident scene with electrical car (source: SPSCH)
  - Accident scene with electrical car (source: www.title.com)
- If you have more than 2 video in the section you need to include numbering:
  - Figure 1. Engine nr2 (source: EASS)
- Choose font "Paragraph"

#### **Privacy**

Where to take photos / pictures from:

- Please take your photos / create it by yourself
- Take from internet with free licence or if needed to cite the author or source

#### LMS

#### **Hyperlinks**

- Do not forget to mark "Open in the new tab" option
- Recommendation to put it on the Source if you include a website link (it is easier for user)

#### Fonts

Choose these fonts:

- Paragraph content: choose "Paragraph"
- Main title: "Heading 1" + capital letters
- Following titles (if/when needed): "Heading 2", "Heading 3" + capital letters
- Captions: "Paragraph" lower letters

Do not go further than "Heading 3"

#### Tables

- Naming:
  - Classification of airbags
- Font: "Paragraph"
- Location: On top, before the table
- Numbering (if there are more than 2 tables in one section/lesson):
   Table 1. Classification of airbags
- Caption: including it under the table, centred left

#### Structuring information

Wordpress provides different options for compiling information.

Go and choose the element that suits you the most:

Edit Course "FightARs" (F	ight Ali 🗴 🔇 Fidit Course "Hazardous substan: 🗴 🔇 Fidit Lenson "1.2 Traffic accident: 🗴 🕂				
← → C ▲ Not 9	cure   http://fight-ar.com/vip-admin/post.php?action=edit8post=11757				ncognito
🔚 czeck 📘 Projects 📕	Lanquage CZ 📕 Lanquage EN 📕 Tech			1 🗖 🦉	ther bookman
💮 🖞 Fight AR 🔿 12	🛡 76 🕂 New ViewLesson 🌐 Memberships 💥 Énglish 🛛 🚸			Howed	y, admin 📃
Dashboard	🗅 🕂 🖬 👘 🗧		0 C	Previour	
😨 Edurna 📵	and the second s		ON Use WPML's	s Teanslation E	ditor
🎓 LearnPress 🧹				Translate C	hiplicate
Courses	+		bech	+	
Cuizzes	x == + · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	×	zonian	+	
Questions	I am text block. Click edit button to change this text. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing edit, Ut eiit tellus, luctus nec ullamcorper mattis, pulvinar	G	erman.	+	0
Erders	dapibus leo.	12	thuenien	+	
Statistics Add-ons	+				
Settings		M	edia attachments		
Tools	Add Element		Duplicate uploade	d media to	
🛗 Lvents Manager			inslations Duplicate featured	image to tran	slations
📌 Posts	Lesson Settings				
91 Media		Pu	ıblish	^	~ *
📕 Pages	Duration 25 Minute(3) V			Preview C	hanges
Comments 600	Preview Students can view this lesson content without taking the course.	9	Status: Published	Edit	
🍰 Our Team		۲	Visibility: Public Ec	iit.	
🛡 Testimonials	Media	0	Revisions: 12 Brow	150	
i Portfolio	Add an embed link like video, PDF, slider	111	Published on: Apr	6, 2022 at 15	27 Edit
P Type here to :	earch O =: 🐼 🖬 🛤 🧏 🖬 📩 📭 🛛 M Maniel		10 40 <b>•</b> a	6 mm 8	21 PM

You have many options:

					фю31- I								8990 ·····	Incognito
🔝 czeck 🚺 Projects	Language	CZ 📙 Larquage El	N 📕											Other bool
🕅 🖞 ғідныла 🔿	12 🗭 76	+ New View Less	en 🕯	Memberships 💥 Eng	lich 🛛	•							He	wdy, admin
🖨 Dashboard										0	i jenn	element by ranke	< Preses	Uptate
LearnPress	All Co		Structu	re WordPress Widge									Danslatio	n Editor
Courses	2												Translate	Duplicate
Lessons Cuizers		ntact Form 7 2 Contact Form7	+	Row	Т	Text Block A block of text with WYGWYG without	+	Section Croup multiple roos in Incline	*	Icon Eye catching icons from		Separator Horzontal separator line	+	
Questions Orders		Zag Separator contal zigzag separator		Separator with Text Horizontal separator line with feading	0	Message Box Nosification Issue		Hover Box Animated flip box with image and Mat	F	Facebook Like Facebook "Like" turtos		Tweetmeme Button Teser lociton	+++	0
Ratistics Vdd-ons Settlings		terest rest halton		FAQ Taggie element for Q8A prock	-	Single Image Single Image with CSS animation		Image Gallery Representation		Image Carousel Animated carocent with images		Tabs Tablest current		
Tools	Tou Vers	r cal tabled coreant		Accordion Cofapolatio content panels		Pageable Container Pageolo contert container	a	Custom Heading Soit with Google forts	60	Button type catching button	=	Call to Action Catch visitors attention with CIA block	media to	translations
r Posts ∄1 Media		Igetised Sidebar Oversi antipetised tar		Posts Slider Sider with WP Posts	0	Video Player Immed VouTube/Viewo ptayer	•	Google Maps Map took	-	Raw HTML Output raw HTML code on your page	-	Raw JS Output row hereforent code on your page		~ ~ •
<ul> <li>Pages</li> <li>Comments (6)</li> </ul>		kr Widget je tead been Hida unt	=	Progress Bar Amenaled progress for	0	Pie Chart According on chart	0	Round Chart Fe and Doughtst tharts	۱.	Line Chart Line and Ker charts		Empty Space mast space with outcomesiter begins	Preview	Changes
₿ Our Team	HH Re	t Grid L paper or custom t in grid		Media Grid Media grid from Media Library	289	Post Masonry Grid Post, pages or castom posts in masorry and	580	Masonry Media Grid Masonry media grid from Media Library	6	Slider Revolution 6	0	Thim: Button Add Dation	1	
Portfolio	-		Add	Thim: Carousel	PDF. s	Thins Consul Desta	~	Thim: Countdown	0	Thiss Country Day	-	This Calles Income	• , 2022 at	15:27 Edit

Our recommendations:

		http://fight-ar.com/wj juage CZ 📕 Language E			(post=						*	<b>9</b> 🗆	😸 Inco	ognito ier bookri
) 😤 Fight AR 📀 12. 🕊 76 🕂 New View Lesson 🛱 Memberships 💥 English 🕢 🚸										Howdy, adn				
Dashboard Eduma 🎧	Add	Element								0	Search element by name	Pre	view	Jpdate
LearnPress	All	Content Social	Structu	re WordPress Widge	ts T	him Shortcodes Woo	Comme	erce Deprecated					lation Edit	
ses ons zes	7	Contact Form 7 Place Contact Form7	+	Row Place content elements inside the row	Т	Text Block A block of text with WYSIWYG editor	<b>+</b>	Section Group multiple rows in section	×	Icon Eye catching icons from libraries	Separator Horizontal separator line		+++	
tions rs ttics		ZigZag Separator Horizontal zigzag separator line	- <b>T</b> -	Separator with Text Horizontal separator line with heading	1	Message Box Notification box		Hover Box Animated flip box with image and text	f	Facebook Like Facebook "Like" button	Tweetmeme Button Tweet button	Ľ	+	
ons ngs	9	Pinterest Pinterest button	•=	FAQ Toggle element for Q&A block		Single Image Simple image with CSS animation		Image Gallery Responsive image gallery		Image Carousel Animated carousel with images	Tabs Tabbed content			
vents Manager		Tour Vertical tabbed content		Accordion Collapsible content panels		Pageable Container Pageable content container	a	Custom Heading Text with Google fonts	60	Button Eye catching button	Call to Action Catch visitors attention with CTA block	med image	ia to e to transla	ations
'osts Aedia		Widgetised Sidebar WordPress widgetised sidebar		Posts Slider Slider with WP Posts	0	Video Player Embed YouTube/Vimeo player		Google Maps Map block	-	Raw HTML Output raw HTML code on your page	Raw JS Output raw JavaScript code on your page		~ ~	<
ages iomments 🔞	••	Flickr Widget Image feed from Flickr account		Progress Bar Animated progress bar	•	Pie Chart Animated pie chart	0	Round Chart Pie and Doughnut charts	<b>h.</b>	Line Chart Line and Bar charts	Empty Space Blank space with custom height	Pre	view Char	nges
Pur Team estimonials	888	Post Grid Posts, pages or custom posts in grid	888	Media Grid Media grid from Media Library	880	Post Masonry Grid Posts, pages or custom posts in masonry grid	880	Masonry Media Grid Masonry media grid from Media Library	6	Slider Revolution 6	C Thim: Button Add Button	t. 2		
ortfolio	-	Thim. Assession	Add	Thim: Carousel an embed link like video	PDE C	Ider	~	Thim: Countdown	~	Thim. Countons Dou	An Thims Callow Imanan ,	* I, 202	2 at 15:27	Edit

#### **Recommended: TABS**

Why?

- It does not use space like others
- It is easier to navigate on computer and on Hololens2: going from one part to another
- Be careful with long titles of tabs

#### Less recommended: Accordion

Why?

- It is compact
- It requires to scroll more if you want to close/open it / going from one part to another if there are several opened

#### Not recommended: Tour

Why?

- Easy to navigate through parts
- It takes a lot of space from the left side even if title just a dot/number

Not sure: Pageable Container

• You need to check it

### APPENDIX 5: Lessons learned from testing the FIGHTARs app

**Deactivation Battery** 



Car cutting



First aid



Hazardous substances



- Indoor use only
- · Pinning of model in space needed
- Access to LMS contents (extra window in app)
- Indoor use only
- Pinning of model in space needed
- · Tools selection requires with airtouch requires training
- Indoor use, outdoor use possible (single case and triage) to train situational awareness
- Overlapping of Avatar with real dummy easily possible
- LMS provides further input on procedures
- Indoor use preferred
- Scaling and working around of virtual scene possible
- Integration of more hazardous material labels required
- Pinning LMS window in space good

# APPENDIX 6: How to set up the AR glasses to screen share

When the AR glasses are connected to the Wi-Fi, the IP address (IP 4) can be seen.<sup>3</sup>

By downloading the HoloLens App from the Windows App store, the screensharing can be easily carried out, if your PC or Laptop is in the same Network as your HoloLens. Just activate the button (see below).



This will allow you to share your screen.

Microsoft HoloLens					-	
HoloLens-VRM89   10.89.206.126						
		Ō				
	Live stream	Camera	Photos & videos			
	See a live stream from your HoloLens	Capture mixed reality photos and videos	View media captured from your HoloLens			
			Ŕ			
	Virtual keyboard		Device info			
	Send keystrokes to your HoloLens	Control apps and running	See details about your HoloLens			
		HoloLens-VRM89   10.59.204.126	HoloLens-VRM89   10.59.206.126 Live stream See a live stream from your HoloLens Live stream Control and videos Live stream App manager Control apps and running	Image: Productors-VRM89   1059.206.125         Image: Productors-VRM89   1059.206.125	HoloLens-VRM89   1009206.125         Live stream         See a live stream from your         HoloLens         Camera         Capture mixed reality photos         HoloLens         Vitual keyboard         Send keystroks to your         Control apps and running	HoloLens-VRM89   1059206.125         Live stream         Live stream         See a live stream from your         HoloLens         Camera         Capture nixed reality photos and videos         Capture nixed reality photos and videos         Vitual keyboard Send keystrokes to your         App manager Control apps and running         Device info See details about your

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Older Networks might not be compatible.

Note: It could happen, that the HoloLens App does not find the network (see below). Then enter the IP address manually. If this does not work restart your PC/Laptop and the HoloLens, and try it again. This procedure normally works.

Aicrosoft HoloLens		_	
	Add your HoloLens	39	
	C <sub>2</sub>		

Note on using the **Remote Assist** App (Microsoft Dynamic 365 suite):

The use requires HoloLens 1 or HoloLens 2 with the Remote App installed as well as a PC/Laptop/Tablet with Microsoft teams. It is also possible to use Remote Assist between a smartphone (with the app) and another smartphone with Microsoft teams installed. This allows solely 2D views in comparison to the 3D experience of the HoloLens use.

A remote assist call is the easiest between two persons from the same company or organisation. A person, which shows up in the contact list can either be called from PC/Laptop/Tablet or the HoloLens.

The installation of the remote assist app on the HoloLens normally requires admin rights.

The remote assist app can be booked monthly or longer by the admin.

The use requires a functioning Wi-Fi with a good bandwidth.

# APPENDIX 7: FIGHTARs app voice control commands

#### Main Scene

- Car components
- Car chassis
- Deactivation
- First aid
- -Hazardous substances
- Accident
- Stabilized and cut
- About
- Exit

#### **Car components**

- Show Menu
- Hide Menu
- Show battery
- Show body
- Show Cables
- Show charging port
- Show Converter
- Show engine
- Show web info
- Return

#### Car chassis

- Show Menu
- Hide Menu
- Show pillar A
- Show pillar B
- Show pillar C

- Show chassis
- Show front cross member
- Show front side frame
- Show deformation element
- Show side sill
- Show web info
- Return

#### Deactivation

- Show web info
- Return

#### First aid

- Show Menu
- Hide Menu
- Start Scan
- Stop Scan
- Show web -Return

#### Hazardous substances

- Return

#### Accident

- Show menu
- Show web
- Return

#### Stabilize and Cut

- Return

# APPENDIX 8: Limitations of AR use in firefighters training and ways to overcome them



Possible solutions:

**Battery duration:** have cable extension with you for charging (in pause mode or also during operation if it does not hinder the using)

**Sun:** It is possible to have sunshades for the HoloLens 2 ("HoloTint")<sup>4</sup>. There is also modification of the HoloLens 2 for a use with a safety helmet (Trimble HoloLens 2)

**Wi-Fi:** A training ground with poor Wi-Fi prevents the use of the Remote Assist App and the LMS function of the FIGHTARS app.

Duration: More training with the HoloLens 2 will results in longer usage times.

**Price tag**: Buy a used HoloLens 2 or wait for further AR glasses. If you are only interested in the remote assist function, you can also buy a Vuzix smart glass (lie Vuzix Blade). The price tag is around 1000 €.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/d/trimble-holotint/94bvb2zp0vsf</u> (04.10.2022)

# **APPENDIX 9: References**

[1] SIZING UP" EMERGING TECHNOLOGY FOR FIREFIGHTING: AUGMENTED REALITY FOR INCIDENT ASSESSMENT (Katelynn A. Kapalo et. al., Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 2018 Annual Meeting)

[2] Using Serious Games and Virtual Simulation for Training in the Fire Service: A Review (Williams-Bell et. al., Fire Technology, 51, 553–584, 2015)